FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 24 1998

CASE NO. 91-131

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT LARKINS,

CLERK, SURFIEME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

APPELLANT,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
FOR THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA
IN AND FOR HARDEE COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DWIGHT M. WELLS, ESQ. Florida Bar #317136 304 S. Albany Ave. Tampa, Florida 33606 (813) 254-0030

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief the Appellant, Robert Larkins, will be referred to by name or as Appellant. The Appellee will be referred to as the State.

Citations to the record on appeal will be parenthetically designated by the symbol (R,) followed by the specific page reference (s). Citations to the trial record will be designated by the symbol (Tr,) followed by the specific page reference (s). Citations of authority are in the form prescribed by Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.800.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an automatic direct appeal from judgement of a death sentence entered following remand before the Honorable William A.

Norris¹ of the Tenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Hardee County.²

On October 4, 1991, Mr. Larkins was convicted of first-degree murder, and on October 7, 1991, the jury recommended death. The trial court followed the jury's recommendation, imposing a death sentence on October 16, 1991. This Court affirmed the conviction but vacated the death sentence and remanded. Larkins v. State, 655 So. 2d 95, 101 (Fla. 1995).

Because the trial court failed to adequately evaluate the mitigation proffered at trial, this Court held that the Sentencing Order "deprived [it] of meaningful review." Id. In particular, this Court found that extensive mitigation was not considered:

(1) Larkins' previous conviction was not murder but manslaughter; (2) he was a poor

¹ J. Norris was a senior judge called from retirement to specially proceed in this case.

² In this brief, the clerk's record on appeal for remand is cited as "R." the court reporter's transcription of the proceedings is cited as "Tr." and the record of the first trial's sentencing phase is cited as "O.R."

 $^{^{\}rm 3}$ Mr. Larkins was also found guilty of one count of armed robberv.

⁴ This first sentencing proceeding was also before J. Norris.

reader; (3) he experienced difficulty in school; (4) he dropped out of school at the fifth or sixth grade; (5) the offense was the result of impulsivity and irritability; (6) he drank alcoholic beverage the night of the incident; (7) he functions at the lower 20% of the population in intelligence; (8) he came from a barren cultural background; (9) his memory ranks in the lowest one percent of the population; (10) he has chronic mental problems possibly caused by drugs and alcohol; (11) he is withdrawn and has difficulty establishing relationships.

Id. at 100-101. Therefore, this Court remanded and "direct[ed] the trial court to reevaluate the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, to resentence the defendant, and to enter a new sentencing order. . . ." Id. at 101.

On July 16, 1996, the Honorable J. David Langford presided over a resentencing proceeding to determine the status of this Court's mandate. R.41. J. Langford indicated that he was prepared to "conduct a new sentencing proceeding before a jury." Tr. 46. At this time, Mr. Larkins notified the trial court that he had filed legal work, including motions. Tr. 45. During this hearing, J. Langford recognized Mr. Larkins' scheduled meeting with Dr. Dee, a clinical psychologist, who testified for the defense in the initial trial's sentencing proceeding. Tr. 47. However, to allow the State an opportunity to present arguments rebutting the need for an entirely new sentencing proceeding, J. Langford scheduled a status conference for September 3, 1996.

On October 8, 1996, a motion proceeding was held before J.

Norris. R. 53. At this time, J. Norris indicated that he had retired on January 1, 1995. Tr. 54. He further noted that the State Attorney's Office solicited the Chief Judge to reassign the case to him. Tr. 55. The Chief Judge, in turn, contacted J. Norris to request that he in fact be reassigned to the case. Tr. 55. During this hearing, Mr. Larkins again informed the trial court that he had filed a lawsuit, proceeding against the Assistant District Attorney. Tr. 58. After "expressing . . . concern of the fact that so much time had now elapsed," J. Norris granted "that there be an examination to determine Mr. Larkins' competency at this point." Tr. 55, 67. Lastly, J. Norris deferred ruling upon whether an entirely new sentencing proceeding was warranted or a simple redrafting of the sentencing order. Tr. 67.

On May 30, 1997, J. Norris presided over the Sentencing
Hearing where he again sentenced Mr. Larkins to death. Tr. 34.

At this time, Mr. Larkins stated that defense counsel was not his counsel and reemphasized the "pending" legal work that he filed, including his appellate brief. Tr. 31, 35. During this hearing,

J. Norris was again reminded that Mr. Larkins, after numerous attempts by defense counsel, had refused to cooperate with Dr.

⁵ However, J. Norris stated that he was, in fact, "furnished a copy of the letter [by the State Attorney's Office] that had been written to Judge Davis [the Chief Judge]." Tr. 64.

⁶ The examination was to be conducted by Dr. Dee.

Dee. Tr. 32. Indeed, J. Norris stated in the new Sentencing Order that "the defendant has refused to cooperate with Dr. Dee and that as of the time of the preparation of this order, no report from Dr. Dee has been filed." R. 20.

In the new Sentencing Order, the trial court found the same two aggravating circumstances as in the initial sentencing: (A) the defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to a person, namely, 1973 manslaughter and assault convictions occurring in St. Louis, Missouri; and (B) the felony was committed for pecuniary gain, i.e. during the commission of an armed robbery. R. 22. However, the trial court found two statutory and eleven non-statutory mitigating circumstances not previously found in the initial sentencing The statutory mitigating circumstances were: (A) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; and (B) the defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person. R. 23-24. The eleven nonstatutory mitigating circumstances found were: (1) the defendant's previous conviction was for manslaughter, not murder; (2) the defendant is a poor reader; (3) the defendant experienced difficulty in school; (4) the defendant dropped out of school during either the fifth or sixth grade; (5) the defendant functions at the lower 20% of the population in intelligence; (6)

the defendant came from a barren cultural background; (7) the defendant's memory ranks in the lowest one percent of the population; (8) the defendant has chronic mental problems possibly caused by drugs and alcohol; (9) the defendant is withdrawn and has difficulty establishing relationships; (10) the offense was the result of impulsivity and irritability; and (11) the defendant drank alcoholic beverages the night of the incident. R. 24-25.

I. ONCE IT BECAME APPARENT THAT THERE WAS A SUBSTANTIAL ISSUE AS TO MR. LARKINS' COMPETENCY, THE TRIAL COURT WAS UNDER AN OBLIGATION TO RESOLVE THE ISSUE BEFORE PROCEEDING FURTHER.

Because the trial judge appointed a clinical psychologist to evaluate Mr. Larkins and other factors indicated his incompetency to proceed, the trial court was required to finish the inquiry it had started. The United States Supreme Court held in Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960), that the standard to determine whether a defendant is competent is "whether he has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding." However, in this case, the trial court out-right failed to ask Mr. Larkins or his counsel whether he could assist in the proceedings against him - even after (a) the trial court arranged for a competency evaluation of Mr. Larkins; (b) defense counsel, at every stage of the proceedings, repeatedly asserted his belief that Mr. Larkins was incompetent to proceed; and @ Mr. Larkins' courtroom ramblings, including his irrational refusal to be examined by the clinical psychologist.

A. THE TRIAL COURT CLEARLY FOUND THAT THERE WAS A REASONABLE BASIS TO DOUBT MR. LARKINS' COMPETENCY IN ORDERING THAT HE BE EVALUATED.

By ordering that Mr. Larkins be psychologically evaluated for purposes of competency and not thereafter question him or defense counsel about his refusal to undergo examination, the trial court violated its duty to ensure that Mr. Larkins was competent to be sentenced. In addressing the issue of the indigent defendant's

right to psychiatric evaluation, the Supreme Court has held:

that when a defendant demonstrates to the trial judge that his sanity at the time of the offense is to be a significant factor at trial, the State must, at a minimum, assure the defendant access to a competent psychiatrist who will conduct an appropriate examination and assist in evaluation, preparation, and presentation of the defense.

Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 83 (1985) (emphasis added).

Mr. Larkins' sanity was "a significant factor at trial." Indeed, it formed the very core of his extensive mental mitigation. But here, the issue devolves into why the trial court would appoint a clinical psychiatrist to evaluate the defendant's competency, only to utterly fail to inquire about its result, or lack thereof. Refusal to be examined by a psychologist may very well delve to the very nature of Mr. Larkins' competency. If nothing else, it is a right that Mr. Larkins needs to waive intelligently, upon inquiry from the trial court. Essentially, the trial court created the inquiry, and was duty-bound to finish it.

In this case, a clinical psychologist was, in fact, appointed by the trial court to examine Mr. Larkins. However, Mr. Larkins refused to be examined. The trial court <u>never</u> asked the defendant why he refused to undergo analysis; it <u>never</u> questioned Mr. Larkins whether he understood the ramifications of refusing to be examined; it <u>never</u> asked Mr. Larkins if he understood the reason for the resentencing; it <u>never</u> questioned the clinical psychologist why Mr. Larkins refused to be sentenced; it never asked defense counsel why

his client refused to see the psychiatrist; and it <u>never</u> asked the defendant if he wanted to proceed *pro se*. All this, after Mr. Larkins repeatedly, and with great insistence, exhibited behavior meriting inquiry.

B. THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE RE-SENTENCING CREATED A REASONABLE GROUND TO BELIEVE THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS INCOMPETENT TO PROCEED, MANDATING A COMPETENCY HEARING.

The trial judge's failure to conduct a competency hearing warrants reversal of Mr. Larkins' death sentence and a remand for a competency hearing because (1) the defense counsel's stated concerns, (2) Mr. Larkins' frequent non-sensical ramblings in the courtroom, and (3) the trial judge's own findings, as evidenced in the mental mitigation set out in the new sentencing order, created circumstances rising to the level of reasonable ground to believe that Mr. Larkins was not competent to be sentenced.

When determining whether a competency hearing is required, the Fla. R. Crim. Proc. Rule 3.210(b) (West 1997) states that a hearing is necessary once "the trial court . . . has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is not mentally competent to stand trial. . . ." (emphasis added). Thus, the standard is not whether the defendant is, in fact, incompetent to proceed but whether reasonable ground exist to question his competency. See Pridgen v. State, 531 So. 2d 951 (Fla. 1988); Bush v. Wainwright, 505 So. 2d 409, 411 (Fla. 1987) (determining whether the circumstances taken together "sufficiently raise a valid question as to [defendant's]

competency to stand trial"); Trawick v. State, 473 So. 2d 1235, 1239 (Fla. 1985) (employing the standard of whether defendant's conduct "raised a sufficient reasonable ground to believe that the [defendant] was incompetent"); and Unruh v. State, 560 So. 2d 266, 268 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1990), quoting Kothman v. State, 442 So. 2d 357, 359 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1983) (holding that the standard is "whether there is reasonable ground to believe that the defendant may be competent, not whether he is incompetent").

In determining whether there are reasonable ground to believe that a defendant may be incompetent to proceed, the trial judge must view the totality of the circumstances. The United States Supreme Court has held:

[E] vidence of a defendant's irrational behavior, his demeanor at trial, and any prior medical opinion on competence to stand trial are all relevant in determining whether further inquiry is required, but that even one of these factors standing alone may, in some circumstances, be sufficient. There are, of course, no fixed or immutable signs which invariably indicate the need for further inquiry to determine fitness to proceed; the question is often a difficult one in which a wide range of manifestations and subtle nuances are implicated.

Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 180 (1975). In initially addressing the factors weighing towards a competency hearing, the Drope Court expanded the determination to include defense counsel's representations: "[i]t is nevertheless true that judges must depend to some extent on counsel to bring issues into focus." Id. at 176-177.

Florida Courts have expressly followed Drope's mandate that

emphasized defense counsel's findings be considered in determining whether the defendant may be incompetent to proceed: "Although we do not, of course, suggest that courts must accept without question a lawyer's representations concerning the competence of his client, an expressed doubt in that regard by one with 'the closest contact with the defendant' is unquestionably a factor which should be considered." Scott v. State, 420 So. 2d 595, 597 (Fla. 1982), quoting Drope, 420 U.S. at 177-178 n.13. In fact, "[t]he trial judge must consider all the circumstances, including the representations of counsel, and unless clearly convinced that an examination is unnecessary, order an examination. . ." Scott, 420 So. 2d at 598, quoting Jones v. State, 362 So. 2d 1334, 1336 (Fla. 1978) (emphasis added).

1. DEFENSE COUNSEL REPEATEDLY APPRISED THE TRIAL COURT THAT MR. LARKINS WAS LIKELY INCOMPETENT TO PROCEED.

Both times the sentencing court held hearings, defense counsel raised the issue of Mr. Larkins' competency. During the first hearing before J. Norris, defense counsel strenuously brought to the trial judge's attention his "grave concern with Mr. Larkins' competency to proceed." Tr. 24. In referring to his motion to appoint a psychologist, defense counsel explicitly stated that he

¹ The first hearing conducted in accordance with this Court's mandate for resentencing was held by J. David Langford on 7/16/96. R. 41. Defense counsel also notified the trial court then as well that he planned to have Mr. Larkins submit to a psychological examination. Tr. 44.

filed the motion with the intent to "pick a new jury as to whether Tr. 64. At the second or not Mr. Larkins was competent."2 hearing, counsel reiterated to the court that he believed Mr. Larkins was "at best marginally competent to be sentenced." 22. the trial court recognized these Again, memorializing defense counsel's warnings in his Sentencing Order.3 Thus, it is clear from this record that defense counsel repeatedly raised the "red flag" that his client's competency to proceed was questionable at best; these concerns alone raise sufficient grounds to believe Mr. Larkins incompetent. In the face of these warnings, the trial court failed its duty under Drope and Scott to order

² After being notified of its purpose, J. Norris did in fact grant the motion, appointing Dr. Dee to examine Mr. Larkins. Dr. Dee served as an expert witness in Mr. Larkins' 1991 trial wherein he testified during sentencing, and the trial judge subsequently found, that the crime was committed while Mr. Larkins suffered from both mental and emotional disturbance; suffers from an organic brain disorder, functions in the lower 20% of the population in intelligence and lowest one percent of the population for memory; and experiences chronic mental problems. R. 6-7 (trial judge basing certain statutory and non-statutory mitigation upon Dr. Dee's evaluation of Mr. Larkins).

³ J. Norris evidenced his knowledge of defense counsel's assertions that Mr. Larkins may be incompetent to proceed when he stated in his Sentencing Order that "[s]everal status conferences were [sic] held including one wherein the question of the present competency of the defendant was raised." Tr. 20. The Sentencing Order also noted that "the defendant has refused to cooperate with Dr. Dee." Id. These findings should have resulted, at a minimum, in the trial court's further inquiry of Mr. Larkins' competence.

further inquiry into the matter before re-sentencing him to death.4

2. MR. LARKINS' BEHAVIOR AT THE SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS WARRANTED NOTHING LESS THAN AN INQUIRY BY THE TRIAL JUDGE.

Not only did defense counsel's warnings put the trial court on notice of Mr. Larkins' compromised mental state, but the trial court's own interactions with the defendant confirmed the necessity for a competency hearing. During the trial court's first encounter with Mr. Larkins for re-sentencing, Mr. Larkins exhibited behavior warranting inquiry. At one point, Mr. Larkins began talking of his "legal work." Tr. 55. According to Mr. Larkins, this "legal work" would prove his accusations and allow him to "walk out of the courtroom in the next five minutes." Tr. 56. Defense counsel also expressed to the court Mr. Larkins' inability to understand the scope of the hearing. R.62.

On the date of sentencing, Mr. Larkins continued his incoherent ramblings and at one point stated "that this man [defense counsel] is not my counsel;" and then making obscure references to "letters" and "legal work:"

"I don't know who put this legal work in for a re-sentencing

⁴ Defense counsel notified the court of his intent to move for a competency hearing; however, Mr. Larkins refused to meet with Dr. Dee. A fact known to the trial court. See supra footnote 4.

⁵ Defense counsel stated that whenever he attempted to explain the limited purpose of the proceedings, Mr. Larkins could only reply that he did not want to "be resentenced in terms of the execution issue." R.62.

hearing and stuff, but I had legal work that was in before that." Tr. 31.

"I done my own appeal briefs, Your Honor, and I already have filed my appeal brief. If you have read the letter you would understand it." Tr. 35.

The letter Mr. Larkins refers to during the Sentencing Hearing provides the only glimpse into what his "legal work" actually entails. Perhaps better stated, it is the only record which evinces Mr. Larkins' understanding of the sentencing proceedings. The letter is from the Public Defender's Office which reads:

I wanted to know that we tried to [sic] return your handwritten transcript notes on April 14, 1993, but they came back to us marked "inmate refused." If you do not want your notes, so you can forward them to your new attorney, they will be placed in your closed file here. It just seems a shame that by your refusing anything from the public defender's's office, you may be denying your new counsel the benefit of your notes.

R.11.

The letter is dated April 20, 1993 -- over <u>four years</u> before this sentencing hearing.⁷ Mr. Larkins, after reading this letter, believed that he filed an appeal in this case, implicated [Hodges] as a possible witness, ⁸ and somehow felt that this "legal work"

⁶ This letter is the only piece of Mr. Larkins' "legal work" which made it on the record. R.11.

⁷ The sentencing hearing occurred on May 30, 1997.

Buring one of his ramblings, Mr. Larkins stated "That's all I ask for your Honor, the opportunity to prove my legal work because I want to proceed against Hodges [sic]." Tr. 58. "Hodges" is apparently Assistant District Attorney Houchin. Earlier in the same proceeding, Mr. Larkins claimed "[b]ecause I can show you that here's a man that indicts you, prosecutes you and at the same time, Your Honor, could have been a witness for

would convince the trial court to act in a way that is unclear. Therefore, Mr. Larkins' behavior at trial created the necessity for the trial judge to inquire into his competency to be sentenced.

3. THE TRIAL COURT'S OWN WRITTEN FINDINGS AND REMARKS ON THE RECORD DEMONSTRATED THE REASONABLE BELIEF THAT MR. LARKINS MAY HAVE BEEN INCOMPETENT AT THE TIME OF RESENTENCING.

The trial court made numerous findings and remarks which should have elicited questioning concerning his competence. After witnessing Mr. Larkins' frequent ramblings, the trial judge appointed Dr. Dee, a clinical psychologist, to examine him, knowing of defense counsel's concern of Larkin's incompetency. The trial judge then, in the Sentencing Order, noted the "question of the present competency of the defendant." Tr. 20. The trial judge further recognized that Larkin's "refused to cooperate with Dr. Dee and that as of the time for the preparation of this order, no report from Dr. Dee has been filed." Tr. 20. The trial judge refused to question Mr. Larkins about why he would refuse to cooperate in a psychological evaluation that would very well have safeguarded the traditional notions of due process and judicial economy.

Next, in the Sentencing Order, the trial judge delineated numerous factors which in themselves bring Mr. Larkins' competency to be sentenced to the very forefront. In particular, the trial

my case for me." Tr. 56.

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