IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT LARKINS,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 91,131

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Larkins claims that death is not warranted because this case merely presents a "robbery gone bad" situation, comparable to <u>Terry v. State</u>, 668 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1996). In <u>Terry</u>, however, the "prior" conviction was based on a contemporaneous conviction as a principal for an aggravating assault committed by Terry's codefendant. This Court emphasized the significance of that distinction in <u>Mendoza</u>:

However, in Terry and Jackson [575 So.2d 181 (Fla. 1991)] the trial courts based prior-violent-felony aggravating circumstances upon armed robberies which were contemporaneous with the murders. By contrast, the trial court in this case based the prior-violent-felony circumstance upon appellant's previous armed robbery conviction in the Robert Street case. Thus, appellant's prior conviction of an entirely separate violent crime differs from the aggravation found in Terry and Jackson.

700 So.2d at 679. Clearly, this factor is entitled to significant weight. See, <u>Duncan v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 279, 281 (Fla.) (upholding death sentence where only aggravating factor was prior violent

felony conviction; this Court upheld twelve of the fifteen mitigating factors found by the trial court), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 969 (1993).

Another distinction between <u>Terry</u> and the instant case exists with regard to the actual facts of the crime. In <u>Terry</u>, "the circumstances surrounding the crime [were] unclear," and this Court found that there was evidence to support the defense theory of a robbery-gone-bad. 668 So.2d at 965. Although Larkins suggests that he murdered Ms. Nicholas on a reactive or impulsive impulse, there were two eyewitnesses that testified to the circumstances surrounding the shooting. And although Dr. Dee concluded that Larkins' had poor impulse control, neither eyewitness described Larkins as irritated or shooting out of impulse. No one testified that Ms. Nicholas was struggling or otherwise resisting the robbery. Thus, the evidence in this case is contrary to a theory that Ms. Nicholas died in a robbery that merely got out of hand.

In considering the proportionality of Larkins' sentence, it is important to review the testimony presented to support the trial court's findings with regard to mitigation. Dr. Henry Dee, a clinical psychologist, testified that he evaluated Larkins on December 17, 1991 (OR. 1307). He conducted a clinical interview in order to provide a context within which he could analyze Larkins' personality and brain functioning; none of his conclusions were based on the biographical history provided by Larkins (OR. 1309).

He then performed a series of neuropsychological tests, initially assessing Larkins' general mental functioning, or intelligence (OR. 1310). Dee determined that Larkins' performance fell within the average level of intelligence, at about the twentieth percentile, which Dee characterized as unremarkable (OR. 1314-15). Dee also noted a substantial memory impairment, suggesting some unspecified brain damage that probably affected both hemispheres 1315-16). Dee concluded that the balance of (OR. neuropsychological test results were normal, with the exception of right/left orientation (OR. 1316). The personality testing conducted by Dee indicated that Larkins had poor impulse control Thus, Dee described and increased irritability (OR. 1317-18). Larkins' current medical condition "as having an organic brain syndrome with mixed features, " meaning-it had both a cognitive component -- memory impairment, and an affective/emotional component -- increased irritability and lack of impulse control (OR. 1318).

Dee stated that there was no way to determine how long this condition had been present; there was no history of cerebral insult or trauma, and Dee suggested that the brain damage could have been caused by Larkins' chronic use of drugs or alcohol (OR. 1319). Although neither the cause nor the time frame of Larkins' "brain damage" could be identified, Dee noted that Larkins' history indicated learning problems from early on (OR. 1320). When asked

extreme disturbance, there was no evidence to support the court's finding of the second statutory mitigator, substantial impairment of the appreciation for the criminality of Larkins' conduct. Clearly, Dee equivocated on whether Larkins' alleged brain damage would even have any affect on his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his actions. Furthermore, although Dee indicated that Larkins' heightened irritability may have contributed to this murder, the facts of the robbery, as testified to by an eyewitness, Debbie Santos, reflect that Larkins entered the store, demanded money from the clerk, then coldly shot her before taking the cash register and backing out of the store.

The other cases cited by the appellant do not establish a lack of proportionality in this case. In Fitzpatrick v. State, 527 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1988), the facts presented "a bizarre robbery scheme by an immature and emotionally disturbed young man who impulsively fired his weapon when surprised by a police officer."

Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381, 391 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 943 (1995). There was extensive mental mitigation in Fitzpatrick, and a defendant with an emotional age between nine and twelve years old. 527 So.2d 812. Although mental mitigation was presented and found in this case, it pales in comparison to that noted in Fitzpatrick.

Larkins' reliance on <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 118 S.Ct. 1097 (1998), <u>Kramer v. State</u>, 619

So.2d 274 (Fla. 1993), and Farinas v. State, 569 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1990), is also misplaced. The mitigation in Robertson included a borderline IQ, extensive mental problems, statutory impairment based on drug and alcohol use, and an abusive, deprived childhood; Robertson was a nineteen year old, with a long history of mental illness, under the influence of drugs and alcohol at the time of the crime, that "[f]or no apparent reason, . . . strangled a young woman who he believed had befriended him." 699 So.2d at 1347. The evidence in Kramer, "in its worst light suggests nothing more than a spontaneous fight, occurring for no discernible reason, between a disturbed alcoholic and a man who was legally drunk." 619 So.2d at 278. Farinas was an emotionally disturbed defendant who shot a former girlfriend as a result of a heated domestic confrontation.

Finally, <u>Sinclair v. State</u>, 657 So.2d 1138 (Fla. 1995); Thompson v. State, 647 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1994); and <u>Clark v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 513 (Fla. 1992), involved only one aggravating factor; in such cases, this Court has approved the death penalty only where there is nothing or very little in mitigation. <u>Soncrer v. State</u>, 544 So.2d 1010, 1011 (Fla. 1989). Thus, none of Larkins' cases are truly comparable to the instant case.

A review of the facts established in the instant case clearly demonstrates the proportionality of the death sentence imposed. The circumstances of this murder compels the imposition of the death penalty, Roberta Faith Nicholas' murder was the result a

totally unprovoked attack by Larkins, for no better reason than he wanted to rob her convenience store. The prior violent felony convictions demonstrate that Larkins has the propensity to commit serious, violent and inexcusable crimes. When compared to similar cases where the death penalty has been imposed and upheld, this case clearly involves the necessary aggravation to set it apart from other capital murders, warranting the extreme sanction of death. Accordingly, the sentence imposed in the instant was properly imposed, and should not be disturbed in this appeal.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE **TRIAL** COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GIVE SUFFICIENT WEIGHT TO THE MITIGATING EVIDENCE.

Larkins next challenges the weight assigned by the trial judge to the mitigation evidence presented. Specifically, he claims that the trial court (1) improperly diluted the statutory mental mitigation by discussing some of the evidence presented in Dr. Dee's testimony as nonstatutory mitigation; and (2) failed to consider and sufficiently discuss Larkins' organic brain damage as a mitigating circumstance. A review of the penalty phase evidence and the sentencing order establishes that these claims are without merit.

As to the trial court's discussion of the statutory mental mitigation, a review of the testimony supporting the trial court's findings clearly demonstrates that, based on what was presented, court's discussion was sufficient. Larkins primarily criticizes the trial court's alleged failure to discuss how Larkins' mental disturbance affected Larkins, and how it affected the crime itself. To the extent that the trial court failed to discuss these aspects of the mitigation offered, it is because there was no testimony presented as to how either Larkins or his crime were affected by his mental ok emotional problems. Dr. Dee testified that Larkins had an unremarkable low intelligence, substantial memory impairment, difficulties

right/left orientation, poor impulse control, and increased irritability (OR, 1314-18). The court below expressly weighed these attributes as nonstatutory mitigation (R. 17-18). No other manifestations of his mental problems were identified by Dr. Dee, and none have been suggested by Larkins.

This Court has repeatedly recognized that the relative weight to be assigned any aggravating or mitigating circumstance is within the broad discretion of the trial judge. <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 7, 10 (Fla. 1997); Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845, 852 (Fla. 1997); Bell v. State, 699 So.2d 674, 678 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1067 (1998); Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415, 420 (Fla. 1990). Such discretion includes the determination of whether to weigh mental mitigation as statutory or nonstatutory mitigation. See, <u>James v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 1229, 1237 (Fla.), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 569 (1997). In the instant case, the sentencing order clearly reflects that the trial court weighed the evidence of Larkins' mental problems as both statutory and nonstatutory circumstances. He weighed the existence of Larkins' organic brain damage, and the effect this damage had on his ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct, as statutory mitigation; he weighed the manifestations of the damage, and the effect they had on the circumstances of the crime, as nonstatutory mitigation. rather than diluting the evidence, as Larkins now suggests, the court below probably gave it more weight than it deserved.

As to the trial court's treatment of Larkins' organic brain damage, Larkins correctly notes that this factor was discussed in the sentencing order. Once again, his concern that the discussion was "cursory" is not a complaint about the court's action, it is really a complaint about the sufficiency of the evidence actually presented. Although Dr. Dee indicated that he believed Larkins suffered from "an organic brain syndrome with mixed features," he was unable to describe the nature of the syndrome, the cause of the syndrome, or how long Larkins may have been affected by it (OR. 1318-20). As previously noted, the only effects of the unspecified brain damage which were discussed -- low average intelligence, memory impairment, poor impulse control, greater irritability -- were expressly weighed in considering the appropriate sentence to be imposed (R. 16-18). Thus, no error has been presented.

In sentencing Larkins to die for the murder of Roberta Faith Nicholas, the trial judge complied with all applicable law, including the dictates of this Court's decision in Camsbell. He expressly evaluated the aggravating factors and mitigating circumstances, and insured adequate appellate review of his findings by discussing the factual basis for the aggravating and mitigating factors. The trial court's alleged failure to outline any additional factual support for his findings should not be deemed error, since the court adequately addressed the existence of the factors. See, Bonifay v. St - 680 So.2d 413, 417 (Fla. 1996)

(although order failed to specifically mention "organic brain damage," <u>Campbell</u> was satisfied since discussion of attention deficit disorder referred to organic brain damage); <u>Munain</u>, 689 So.2d at 1031 (finding consideration of mitigating factors encompassed in discussion of other factors); <u>Barwick v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 685, 696 (Fla. 1995) (finding sufficient consideration of evidence of child abuse, despite rejection of abuse as mitigator, based on language in order that court considered and weighed all applicable aggravating and mitigating circumstances established by the evidence or on which significant evidence had been produced), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 823 (1996).

Finally, even if legitimate concerns as to the adequacy of the trial judge's articulation of his findings exists, there is no reason to remand this cause for resentencing since it is clear that any elaboration on the sentencing order would not result in the imposition of a life sentence. Any error relating to the sentencing order's failure to discuss every possible aspect of mitigation is clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, because even as discussed in Larkins' brief, the mitigation does not offset the strong aggravating factors found. Therefore, this Court should affirm the sentence as imposed. Lawrence v State, 691 So.2d 1068, 1076 (Fla.), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 205 (1997); Kilaore, 688 So.2d at 895 (failure to expressly comment on mitigation, if error, was harmless where evidence presented and judge was cognizant of

factor); Barwick, 660 So.2d at 696; Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1799 (1995); Wickham v. State, 593 So.2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 505 U.S. 1209 (1992); <u>Cook v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 141, 144 (Fla.) ("we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the judge still would have imposed the sentence of death even if the sentencing order had contained findings that each of these nonstatutory mitigating circumstances had been proven"), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 890 (1991). concludes this issue by alleging that a proper assessment of his mental health mitigation would demonstrate that his sentence is disproportional when compared with Livinaston v. State, 565 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1988). Although this argument should be rejected for the reasons discussed in Issue III, it is significant to note that Livingston was seventeen years old at the time of his crimes, while Larkins was thirty-seven (OR. 5). In addition, Livingston was severely beaten as a child, had a marginal level of intellectual functioning, and had extensively used cocaine and marijuana. In light of this mitigation, no disproportionality has been shown, and there is no basis to disturb Larkins' sentence presented in this issue.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE STATE COMMITTED MISCONDUCT BY REQTJESTING **THAT** THE ORIGINAL SENTENCING JUDGE PRESIDE AT THE RESENTENCING.

Larkins' final claim concerns the State's actions requesting that the resentencing proceeding be conducted by the original sentencing judge. In this issue, Larkins suggests that the State created an appearance of judge shopping by contacting the Chief Judge to request that Judge Norris be reassigned to impose sentence. Larkins also uses this claim as a springboard to contest Judge Norris' qualifications to handle the resentencing, noting that Norris had not attended the capital case training required by Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.050(b)(10). Larkins is plainly not entitled to relief in this issue.

It must be noted initially that much of this issue, as presented, is not properly before this Court. To the extent that Larkins is complaining about the State contacting the Chief Judge ex parte, defense counsel objected to the communication below (R. 56), but did not request any particular relief at that time and, until his appellate brief, has never suggested that such communication required Judge Norris' disqualification. In fact, a written Motion to Disqualify was filed well after Larkins learned of the communication, but the Motion makes no reference to any allegation of an improper ex parte contact by the State (R. 9). Since no written motion was filed requesting Judge Norris to recuse

himself on this basis, this issue is obviously barred. Rogers v. State, 630 So.2d 513, 516 (Fla. 1993) (requiring motions for disqualification to be in writing).

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